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Introduction 
 
[1 ]  In th is  d ivorce act ion the Pla int i f f  is  T[…] O[…] N[…],  adul t  
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male ( “ the Pla int i f f ” )  and the Defendant  is  S[…] C[…] N[…],  adul t  

female ( “ the Defendant” ) .  The par t ies were marr ied to one another  

on the 17 t h  of  Apr i l  2015,  at  Kat lehong,  in  communi ty of  proper ty  

and are st i l l  so marr ied.  

 

[2 ]  This t r ia l  commenced on Monday 24 Apr i l  2023 having been 

set  down for  hear ing for  two to three days.  The number of  days 

a l located to th is  mat ter  was grossly underest imated.  On 

Wednesday the 26 t h  of  Apr i l  2023 the mat ter  became par t -heard 

and was postponed sine d ie.  At that  s tage the Pla int i f f  had not  

completed h is evidence- in-ch ief .  I t  is  t rue that  some cour t  t ime 

was lost  on Tuesday the 25 t h  of  Apr i l  2024 due to the s i t t ing of  a 

ceremonia l  cour t .  However,  t ime was made up by th is  Court  s i t t ing 

ear l ier  on Wednesday the 26 t h  of  Apr i l  2024.  

  

[3 ]  The mat ter  was then set  down,  before th is  Court ,  for  a fur ther  

per iod of  f ive cour t  dates (dur ing the December 2023 recess)  f rom 

Wednesday the 6 t h  of  December  2023 unt i l  Tuesday the 12 t h  of  

December 2023.  The Pla int i f f  f ina l ly  c losed h is case at  12h00 on 

Fr iday the 8 t h  of  December 2023 wi thout  cal l ing any other  

wi tnesses.  In the premises,  i t  took approx imately f ive and a hal f  

cour t  days to complete the evidence of  a s ingle wi tness ( the 

Pla int i f f ) .  In  contrast  thereto the Defendant ’s  evidence was 

completed in approximately a day and a hal f  ( f rom 12h00 on 

Fr iday the 8 t h  of  December 2023 to Monday the 11 t h  of  December  

2023)  when the Defendant  c losed her  case.  As was the case for  

the Pla int i f f  the Defendant  e lected not  to cal l  any other  wi tnesses.  

The f ina l  day of  the t r ia l  (Tuesday the 12 t h  of  December  2023)  

was devoted to argument .  In  the premises,  i t  took a tota l  of  e ight  

cour t  days to complete a t r ia l  which involved the evidence of  only  

two (2)  wi tnesses.  The re levance of  the aforegoing wi l l  become 

more apparent  at  a la ter  stage in th is  judgment .  

  

[4 ]  I t  was a lways the intent ion of  th is  Court  to del iver  a wr i t ten 
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judgment  in  th is  mat ter.  In  l ight  of ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the onerous 

work load under which th is  Court  has been p laced,  th is  has s imply  

not  been possib le wi thout  incurr ing fur ther  delays in the handing 

down thereof .  In the premises,  th is judgment  is being del ivered ex 

tempore .  Once t ranscr ibed,  i t  wi l l  be “conver ted” ,  or  more 

correct ly  “ t ransformed”,  in to a wr i t ten judgement  and prov ided to 

the par t ies.  In  th is  manner,  nei ther  the qual i ty  of  the judgment  nor  

the t ime in which the judgment  is  del ivered,  wi l l  be compromised.  

This Court  is  indebted to the t ranscr ipt ion serv ices of  th is  Div is ion 

who general ly  provide t ranscr ipts of  judgments emanat ing f rom 

th is Court  wi th in a shor t  per iod of  t ime fo l lowing the del ivery 

thereof  on an ex tempore  basis.  

  

The issues and common cause facts  
 
[5 ]  The p leadings in  th is  mat ter  consist  of  the Pla int i f f ’s  

Par t icu lars of  Cla im ( “ the POC”) ;  the Defendant ’s  Plea to the POC 

( “ the Defendant ’s  Plea”) ;  the Defendant ’s  Counterc la im; the 

Pla int i f f ’s  Plea to the Defendant ’s  Counterc la im ( “ the Pla int i f f ’s  

Plea”)  and the Pla in t i f f ’s  Repl icat ion to the P lea ( “ the 

Repl icat ion”) .  In terms of  those p leadings the issues were def ined 

as fo l lows:  

  

5 .1 whether  the Defendant  should be ordered,  in  terms of  

subsect ion 9(1)  of  the Divorce Act  70 of  1979 ( “ the Act” )  to  

for fe i t  cer ta in patr imonia l  benef i ts  of  the marr iage in 

communi ty of  proper ty,  in  favour  of  the Pla int i f f ,  e i ther  

whol ly  or  in  par t ;  

  

5 .2 maintenance for  the two (2)  minor  ch i ldren born of  the 

marr iage,  namely E[…] B[…] N[…],  born on 14 June 2016 

and O[…] E[…] N[…],  born on 22 November 2017;  

  

5 .3 the pr imary residence of  and contact  to the aforesaid  
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minor  ch i ldren;  

  

5 .4 whether  there should be a d iv is ion of  the jo int  estate 

wi th the Defendant  rece iv ing a hal f  share of  the Pla int i f f ’s  

pension interest  in the Chemical  Industr ies Nat ional  

Provident  Fund in terms of  subsect ion 7(7)(a)  of  the Act ;  

 

5 .5 whether  the Pla int i f f  should pay maintenance to the 

Defendant ;  and 

  

5.6 the issue of  costs.  

  

[6 ]  The POC included a speci f ic  prayer  that  the Defendant  should 

for fe i t  her  r ights to c la im hal f  of  the furn i ture in the former 

matr imonia l  home.  However,  at  the conclusion of  the t r ia l ,  th is  

Court  was advised that  the Pla int i f f  no longer sought  such an 

order.  

  

[7 ]  This Court  was not  asked to decide the issues of  maintenance 

for  the minor  chi ldren;  thei r  pr imary residence or  r ights of  contact  

wi th them. On the f i rs t  day of  the t r ia l  th is  Court  made an order  in  

terms of  subrule  33(4)  in  terms of  which the issue of  whether  

maintenance was payable by the Pla int i f f  to the Defendant  was 

separated and postponed sine d ie .  In the premises,  the sole issue 

to be determined by th is  Court  is  that  of  “ for fe i ture” .  

  

[8 ]  In that  regard,  the Pla int i f f  sought  a speci f ic  order  that  the 

Defendant  for fe i t  the fo l lowing patr imonia l  benef i ts  of  the 

marr iage,  namely:  

  

8 .1 her  hal f -share in the Pla int i f f ’s  pension interest  in  the 

Chemica l  Industr ies Nat ional  Provident  Fund;  

 

8.2 15 T[…] Road;  1[…] S[…] R[…] C[…],  D[…] 0[…],  
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Gauteng ( “ the D[…] proper ty”) ;  

 

8 .3 Number 3[…] S[…] Road,  4[…] E[…] P[…];  KwaZulu – 

Natal  ( “ the E[…] P[…] proper ty”) ;  

 

8 .4 2[…] G[…],  G[…],  Durban,  KwaZulu – Natal  ( “ the G[…] 

proper ty”) ;  

 

8 .5 57 T[…] C[…],  H[…],  W[…],  Mpumalanga ( “ the W[…] 

proper ty”) ;  and 

 

8.6 an Audi  A4,  2019 model  wi th regist rat ion H[…] ( “ the 

motor  vehic le”) .  

 

[9 ]  The facts which are e i ther  common cause or  cannot  be 

ser iously  d isputed by e i ther  of  the par t ies are:  

  

9 .1 the marr iage between the par t ies has broken down 

i r ret r ievably;  and 

  

9.2 the lobola negot iat ions and process as set  out  in  the 

POC. 

  

The law 
 
[10]  Subsect ion 9(1)  of  the Act  reads as fo l lows:  

  

“When a decree of  d ivorce is  granted on the ground of  the 

i r ret r ievable breakdown of  a marr iage the Court  may make 

an order  that  the patr imonia l  benef i ts  of  the marr iage be 

for fe i ted by one par ty in  favour  of  the other,  e i ther  whol ly  or  

in  par t ,  i f  the Court ,  having regard to the durat ion of  the 

marr iage,  the c i rcumstances which gave r ise  to the 

breakdown thereof  and any substant ia l  misconduct  on the 
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part  of  e i ther  of  the par t ies,  is  sat is f ied that ,  i f  the order  for  

for fe i ture is  not  made,  the one par ty wi l l  in  re lat ion to the 

other  be unduly benef i t ted” .  

 

[11]  Both par t ies re l ied upon the pr inc ip les as enunciated in the 

mat ter  of  Wijker  v Wi jker 1 where the erstwhi le Appel late Div is ion 

( “ the AD”)  held,  in ter  a l ia ,  the fo l lowing:  

 

“ I t  is  obvious f rom the wording of  th is  sect ion that  the f i rs t  

step is  to determine whether  or  not  the par ty against  whom 

the order  is  sought  wi l l  in  fact  be benef i ted.  That  wi l l  be 

purely a  factual  issue.  Once that  has been establ ished the 

t r ia l  Court  must  determine,  having regard to the factors  

ment ioned in the sect ion,  whether  or  not  that  par ty wi l l  in  

re lat ion to the other  be unduly benef i t ted i f  a  for fe i ture 

order  is  not  made.  Al though the second determinat ion is  a  

value judgment ,  i t  is  made by the t r ia l  Court  af ter  having 

considered the facts fa l l ing wi th in the compass of  the three 

factors ment ioned in the sect ion. ” 2 

 

[12]  The AD also held:  3 

 

“To determine whether  a par ty would be unduly benef i t ted,  a 

t r ia l  Court  would cer ta in ly  not  be exerc is ing a d iscret ion in  

the narrower sense.  Here too no choice between 

permissib le a l ternat ives is  involved.  In consider ing the 

appeal  th is  Cour t  is  therefore not  l imi ted by the pr inc ip les 

set  out  in  Ex par te Neethl ing (supra)  and i t  may d i f fer  f rom 

the Cour t  a quo on the mer i ts .  I t  is  only af ter  the Court  has 

concluded that  a par ty would be unduly benef i t ted that  i t  is  

empowered to order  a for fe i ture of  benef i ts ,  and in making 

 
1 1993 (4) South Africa 720 (AD) 
2 At 727E-F 
3 At 727J-728B  
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th is  dec is ion i t  exerc ises a d iscret ion in the narrower  

sense.  I t  is  d i f f icu l t  to  v isual ise c i rcumstances where a 

Court  would then decide not  to grant  a for fe i ture order. ”  

 

[13]  I t  is  not  a prerequis i te for  making a for fe i ture order  that  a l l  

three factors,  as set  out  in  subsect ion 9(1) of  the Act ,  be present . 4 

This was (correct ly)  conceded on behal f  of  the Defendant .   

 

[14]  Also,  in  Wijker  the AD held that :  5  

 

“The fact  that  substant ia l  misconduct  has been inc luded as 

a th i rd factor  does not  in  my opin ion exclude a 

considerat ion of  misconduct  as a c i rcumstance which gave 

r ise to the breakdown of  the marr iage.  Substant ia l  

misconduct  may inc lude conduct  which has noth ing to do 

wi th the breakdown of  a marr iage and may for  that  and 

other  reasons have been inc luded as a separate factor. ”   

  

[15]  Only the factors set  out  subsect ion 9(1)  of  the Act  may be 

taken into account  by a Court  decid ing the issue of  for fe i ture. 6 

  

[16]  In the mat ter  of  Z v Z , 7 i t  was held:  

  

“ I t  is  c lear  f rom the wording of  the subsect ion that  to qual i fy  

for  for fe i ture,  based on misconduct ,  such conduct  must  be 

“substant ia l ” .  I  understand th is  to mean that ,  i t  must  not  

only be a misconduct  which does not  accord wi th the 

marr iage re lat ionship,  but  a lso that  the misconduct  must  be 

ser ious.  Undue benef i t  in my v iew,  is  a lso a re lat ive term.  

Benef i t t ing f rom one spouse’s sweat ,  in  my v iew,  would not  

 
4 Binder v Binder 1993 (2) SA 123 (WLD) at 127C-D; Wijker at 728 - 729; KRN v JMN (A161/2023) 
[2023] ZAGPPHC1955 (27 November 2023) at paragraph [11] 
5 1993 (4) SA 720 (AD) at page 730, para A - B 
6 Botha v Botha 2006 (4) SA 144 (SCA)  
7 Z v Z (43745/13) [2015] ZAGPPHC 940 (18 September 2015)  
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necessar i ly  amount  to undue benef i ts .  To come to the 

conclusion of  undue benef i t ,  one would be guided by a 

number of  factors for  example,  refusal  to  work when i t  is  

possib le  to do so,  squander ing of  money and other  assets  

of  one’s  estate and other  factors of  the handl ing of  the 

estate which is  pre judic ia l  to  the other  spouse.” 8 

 

[17]  Also,  in  the mat ter  of  Phenya v Phenya , 9 i t  was accepted that  

the fa i lure to contr ibute to the jo int  estate when a par ty was in a  

posi t ion to do so,  qual i f ied as substant ia l  misconduct .  

  

The Pleadings 
  
[18]  In l ight  of ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the amount  of  ev idence (both v iva voce  

and documentary)  p laced before th is  Court  (deal t  wi th at  a la ter  

s tage in th is judgment)  i t  is  imperat ive to f i rs t  examine the 

p leadings in th is  mat ter  insofar  as they set  out  the var ious 

grounds re l ied upon by the par t ies per ta in ing to for fe i ture.  

  

[19]  The POC (which,  despi te having been draf ted by an at torney 

of  th is  cour t ,  read l ike a “storybook”  and bear l i t t le  or  no 

resemblance to POC, having no regard to the ru les of  p leading)  

conta in the fo l lowing averments (set  out  below verbat im ) ,  namely:  

  

19.1 “The Pla int i f f ,  being aware of  the fact  that  the 

defendant  was unemployed,  ensured that  she was taken 

care of  f inancia l ly  even at  th is  ear ly  stage” ;  

  

19.2 “Fur ther  to th is ,  the Pla int i f f  added that  he had been 

and would l ike ly remain the pr imary and so le breadwinner in  

thei r  re lat ionship.  Both par t ies had expressed a desi re to 

 
8 At paragraph [7].  
9 Phenya v Phenya [2020] JOL 48889(GJ). See also Mashila v Mashila (022/2022) [2023] ZASCA75 
(unreported).  
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have chi ldren.  The Pla int i f f  would have to take (care)  of the 

educat ion,  socia l ,  ext ra-curr icu lar  and other  needs of  the 

fami ly.  Obl igat ions such as medical  a id,  housing,  t ravel ,  

fuel ,  food,  c loth ing and enter ta inment  would a l l  be borne by 

the Pla int i f f ,  and these would become burdensome i f  not  

unbearable.  Given the h igh number of  d ivorces pr imar i ly  

due to f inancia l  reasons,  the Pla int i f f  p leaded wi th the 

Defendant  to request  her  fami ly  to reduce the amount  of  

lobola as he d id  not  want  to p lace f inancia l  s t ra in on thei r  

union or  commence the marr iage in debt . ” ;  

 

19.3 “The f inancia l  needs of  the Defendant  cont inued to be 

taken care by the Pla in t i f f  as they had been dur ing the 

durat ion and subsistence of  thei r  re lat ionship. ” ;  

 

19.4 “As was now customary,  the Pla int i f f  a t tended to pay 

for  ( the)  major i ty  of  the expenses occasioned by the 

wedding. ” ;  

 

19.5 “The Defendant  has abused the Pla int i f f  verbal ly  and 

emot ional ly  throughout  the durat ion of  the marr iage.” ;  

 

19.6 “The Defendant  has consistent ly  and unreasonably  

denied the Pla int i f f  conjugal  r ights . ” ;  

  

19.7 “The Defendant  fa i led to remain fa i thfu l  to the Pla int i f f  

and engaged in an adul terous ext ramar i ta l  affa i r  dur ing the 

subsistence of  the marr iage.” ;  

 

19.8 “The Pla int i f f  became aware of  the t rue intent ion for  

which the Defendant  agreed to marr ied (s ic)  h im:  that  the 

Defendant  sought  to and d id in  fact  obta in f inancia l  and 

mater ia l  benef i t  f rom the Pla in t i f f ,  that  in  f inancing the 

l i festy le,  debts and other  obl igat ions and desi res of  the 
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Defendant ,  the Pla int i f f  became indebted,  and h is f inancia l  

posi t ion deter iorated drast ica l ly  to the detr iment  of  the 

Pla int i f f . ” .  

  

19.9 “Having expended himsel f  f inancia l ly  and unable to  

keep up wi th the f inancia l ly  burdensome and unreasonable 

l i festy le of  the Defendant ,  the Pla int i f f  was now in d i re  

f inancia l  s t ra i ts .  The Pla int i f f ’s  credi t  cards were spent  to  

thei r  l imi ts ,  the p la int i f f  had sold  an immovable proper ty  

in tended as an investment  for  h is  future and that  of  h is  

fami ly  to f inance the costs of  wedding and matr imonia l  

process,  the Pla int i f f ’s  credi t  rat ing and score was now 

adversely affected and f inancia l  inst i tu t ions now considered 

the p la int i f f  a  r isk and unworthy of  being advanced monies.  

The Pla int i f f ,  and consequent ly  the jo int  estate,  remained 

severely  over- indebted wi th a substant ia l ly  negat ive credi t  

rat ing.  Notwi thstanding the aforegoing,  the Defendant  has 

made no at tempt  at  reducing th is  debt ,  instead the 

Defendant  seeks to fur ther  and unduly ga in f inancia l ly  f rom 

the assets of  the Pla int i f f .  Awakening to th is  eventual i ty,  the 

Defendant  made plans to exi t  the marr iage,  which p lans 

have now reached f ru i t ion,  as the Pla in t i f f  was now unable 

to cont inue to provide for  her  f inancia l  needs. ” ;  

  

19.10 “The t rue reason for  the Defendant  agreeing to marry  

the Pla int i f f  was rendered fur ther  obsolete because the 

p la int i f f  had now become severely  over- indebted.” ;  

  

19.11 “The p la int i f f  (Defendant)  has,  f rom incept ion of  the 

marr iage been emot ional ly  abusive towards the Pla int i f f ,  

which led to the i r ret r ievable breakdown of  the marr iage.” ;  

   

19.12 “By the Defendant ’s  own admission,  she informed the 

Pla int i f f  that  she never  loved h im f rom the incept ion of  the 
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marr iage.  She fur ther  stated that  she was coerced into the 

marr iage by her  fami ly  wi th Pla int i f f .  The Defendant ’s  fami ly  

put  pressure on her  and at  the t ime the Defendant  was 

encounter ing f inancia l  d i f f icu l t ies and she u l t imately agreed 

to get  in to a marr iage to rescue the defendant  f rom both her  

f inancia l  woes and to a l lev iate the Defendant ’s  fami ly  off  

(s ic)  the defendant  as a f inancia l  burden.” ;  

  

19.13 The Pla in t i f f  has for  the durat ion of  the marr iage 

commit ted h imsel f  wholeheartedly to the Defendant .  To th is  

end,  the p la int i f f  was the sole provider  for  the needs and 

wants of  the Defendant  as wel l  as wi th in the matr imonia l  

home.” ;  

  

19.14 “Throughout  the durat ion of  the marr iage between the 

Part ies,  the Defendant  d id not  make cont r ibut ions to the 

household expenses and/or  necessi t ies.  The Defendant  d id  

not  contr ibute f inancia l ly  to the household expenses as she 

refused to seek employment  or  star t  a business.  The 

Pla int i f f  a t tempted to ass ist  her  in  both endeavours of ten 

t imes buying data for  the Defendant  to apply for  jobs and 

even going to the extent  of  h i r ing a business consul tant  to  

ensure that  the defendant  had the necessary support  to  

commence her  business.  The defendant  however  

mainta ined a lackadais ical  towards the business venture 

and made no meaningfu l  contr ibut ion in respect  of  same.  

Fur thermore,  the defendant  fa i led to contr ibute to the 

upkeep of  the household and nur tur ing of  the chi ldren.” ;  

 

19.15 “Pr ior  to the commencement  of  d ivorce proceedings,  

the Defendant  cont inued to threaten the Pla int i f f  that  she 

would d ivorce h im and leave h im impover ished as the law 

was on her  s ide when i t  came to d ivorce proceedings 

because they were marr ied in communi ty of  proper ty. ” ;  
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19.16 “The marr iage between the Part ies lasted for  a shor t  

per iod being approximate ly 3 years and 10 months. ” ;  

   

19.17 “The Defendant  fur thermore engaged in substant ia l  

misconduct  in  (s ic)  she fa i led to remain commit ted to the 

Pla int i f f  and engaged in  an adul terous ext ramar i ta l  affa i r  

dur ing the subsistence of  the marr iage to the Pla int i f f . ” ;  

  

19.18 “Accordingly,  the Defendant ’s  act ions,  proper ly  

construed,  are such that  fa l l  wi th in the ambi t  of  substant ia l  

misconduct  by reason that  she entered into the marr iage for  

f inancia l  benef i t  which benef i t  shal l  accrue to her  i f  an 

order  for  for fe i ture is  not  granted and by v i r tue of  the 

pers ist ing f inancia l  and emot ional  abuse the Pla int i f f  suffers  

at  the hands of  the Defendant . ” ;  

  

19.19 “The col lect ive act ions of  the defendant  are in  every 

sense of  the word repugnant  to what  the inst i tu t ion of  

marr iage stands for  and undoubtedly const i tu te substant ia l  

misconduct ,  as per  sect ion 9 of  the Divorce Act .  Therefore,  

the Pla int i f f  avers that ,  tak ing into considerat ions (s ic)  the 

durat ions (s ic)  of  marr iage between the par t ies that  the 

for fe i ture of  pat r imonia l  benef i ts  should accordingly be 

granted.” .  

 

[20]  The Defendant ,  in the Defendant ’s  Plea,  s tated:  

 

20.1 “The Defendant  avers that  the Pla int i f f  is  the one who 

was emot ional ly  and physical ly  abusive towards the 

Defendant . ” ;  

 

20.2 “The Defendant  fur ther  avers that  the Pla int i f f ’s  

physical  abuse caused the Defendant  to move out  of  the 
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common proper ty in  December 2018.” ;  

 

20.3 “The Defendant  fur ther  avers that  whi le she was 

pregnant  wi th thei r  f i rs t  ch i ld ,  she had a s ick ly pregnancy 

hence she could not  go back to work. ” ;  

 

20.4 “The Defendant  avers that  both par t ies agreed that  the 

Defendant  would stay home and take care of  the minor  

chi ldren in that  the par t ies could not  afford the serv ices of  a 

helper. ” .  

 

[21]  In the Defendant ’s  Counterc la im the Defendant  avers:  

 

21.1 “The Pla int i f f  g ives the Defendant  a monthly a l lowance 

of  R2 000.00 f rom the year  2015 to date for  the Defendant ’s  

personal  use.” ;  

 

21.2 “The Defendant  submits  that  she received the 

aforesaid sum of  money for  her  personal  care and use in  

that  she was not  employed but  tak ing care and ra is ing the 

par t ies ’ two minor  chi ldren at  home.” ;  

  

21.3 “The Defendant  and the Pla int i f f  jo int ly agreed that  the 

Defendant  should not  return to work but  stay home to ra ise 

and take care of  the minor  chi ldren and to date the 

Defendant  is  s t i l l  unemployed but  looking for  employment . ” ;  

  

21.4 “The defendant  le f t  the matr imonia l  home on the 24 

(s ic)  December 2018 due to the verbal ,  emot ional  and 

physical  abuse of  the p la int i f f . ” .  

  

[22]  Taking the aforegoing into account ,  i t  is  then possib le to  

proper ly  evaluate the evidence p laced before th is Court  by the 

par t ies.  



 14  
 

 

The evidence 
 
[23]  Before deal ing wi th the evidence of  the respect ive par t ies ,  i t  

is  important  for  th is Court  to  make the fo l lowing observat ion.  

Whi ls t  both par t ies,  unsurpr is ingly,  proffered d i f ferent  reasons for  

the breakdown of  the marr iage re lat ionship when they gave thei r  

v iva voce  ev idence dur ing the t r ia l ,  i t  was in fact  common cause 

that  the said re la t ionship was a d isaster  f rom the very beginning 

thereof .  In th is  regard,  both the Pla int i f f  and the Defendant  

test i f ied ( for  d i f ferent  reasons)  that  problems arose f rom the very 

f i rs t  n ight  that  they were marr ied to one another.  Ar is ing 

theref rom, i t  is  indeed remarkable,  not  only that  the marr iage 

lasted for  as long as i t  d id,  but  produced two chi ldren theref rom.  

  

[24]  From the aforegoing,  i t  immediate ly becomes apparent  that  

the reasons for  the breakdown of  the marr iage and the re l iance by 

the Pla int i f f  upon any substant ia l  misconduct  on behal f  of  the 

Defendant ,  must  p lay a less s igni f icant  ro l l  when determining 

whether  or  not  th is  Court  should order  a for fe i ture.  This is  s imply  

because,  on the evidence p laced before th is  Cour t ,  the par t ies 

should c lear ly  never  have become marr ied to one another.  

Moreover,  whi ls t  the t ragic consequences of  these par t ies 

real is ing,  at  the very outset ,  that  the marr iage was a “mistake” ,  

there is  noth ing improbable therein.  The Pla int i f f  and the 

Defendant  are cer ta in ly  not  the f i rs t  (or  last )  couple to come to 

the real isat ion that ,  upon becoming marr ied to one another,  they 

are s imply incompat ib le.  I t  is  against  th is  background that  th is  

Court  wi l l  evaluate the evidence of  the par t ies insofar  as i t  is  

appl icable to the issue of  for fe i ture.  

  

The evidence of  the Plaint i f f  
 
[25]  At  the outset ,  i t  must  be noted that  the P la int i f f  was not  a  
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good wi tness.  Th is is  t rue in respect  of  both h is ev idence- in-ch ief  

as wel l  as when he was cross-examined.  He fa i led (despi te being 

asked by h is Counsel ;  th is  Court  and the Defendant ’s  Counsel)  to  

answer quest ions put  to h im di rect ly.  Instead,  he cont inual ly  

embarked on lengthy and i r re levant  narrat ives.  Not  only d id th is  

resul t  in  adding considerable t ime to Court  proceedings 10 but  i t  

natura l ly  cast  great  doubt  on the Pla int i f f ’s  credib i l i ty.  In  th is  

regard and s ince the Plaint i f f  had e lected to test i fy  in Engl ish 

( rather  than in h is home language)  wi thout  the a id of  an 

interpreter,  th is  Court  enquired as to whether  an interpreter  

should be provided in order  to assist  h im when giv ing h is  

test imony and to  avoid th is  Cour t  drawing any adverse inference 

against  h im.   The aforegoing was re jected by both the Pla int i f f  

and the Pla int i f f ’s  legal  representat ives.  

 

[26]  When consider ing the Pla int i f f ’s  test imony before th is  Court ,  

in  broad terms, i t  was c lear ly  apparent  that  the Pla int i f f  fe l t  

aggr ieved by the Defendant ’s  decis ion to u l t imately vacate the 

matr imonia l  home wi th the chi ldren dur ing December 2018 and not  

to return thereto.  This  was the thread that  ran through the 

Pla int i f f ’s  lengthy (and confusing)  evidence,  more speci f ica l ly  that  

he had provided f inancia l ly  for  the Defendant ,  both before and 

dur ing the marr iage re lat ionship,  only  to be re jected by the 

Defendant .  Ul t imate ly,  i t  is  d i f f icu l t  for  th is  Cour t  to  re ject  the 

submissions made by the Defendant ’s  Counsel ,  in  the Defendant ’s  

Heads of  Argument ,  that  “ I t  is  c lear  that  the p la int i f f ’s  ev idence 

was r idd led wi th long e laborate and i r re levant  facts,  some of  

which bothered (bordered)  on insu l ts ,  evas ion and d ishonesty” .   

 

[27]  In what  can only be presumed to be a val iant  at tempt by the 

Pla int i f f ’s  legal  representat ives to consol idate the Pla int i f f ’s  

ev idence into something s l ight ly  more comprehensib le,  the 

 
10 Paragraph [3] ibid 
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P la int i f f  had compi led no less than f ive lever  arch f i les conta in ing 

an array of  ev idence.  Of  th is  the Pla int i f f  e lected to p lace before 

th is  Court  approximately 77 exhib i ts  ( f rom a tota l  of  approximately  

81 exhib i ts) .  Each exhib i t  var ied in length and the number of  

pages.  Regret tably,  th is  e lect ion only resul ted in burdening the 

record unnecessar i ly.  In  addi t ion thereto,  no schedules in support  

of  the v iva voce  ev idence g iven by the Plaint i f f  (wi th the except ion 

of  a schedule inc luded in the P la int i f f ’s  Heads of  Argument  set t ing 

out  the benef i t  to  the Defendant  in  respect  of  the immovable 

proper t ies and the motor  vehic le 11 should for fe i ture not  be 

granted)  were provided,  by e i ther  par ty,  to  th is  Court .  Moreover,  

no sui table admissions were sought  or  made by e i ther  of  the 

par t ies which would have had the posi t ive resul t  o f  not  only 

reducing the v iva voce  ev idence p laced before th is  Court  but  a lso 

e l iminat ing the need for  documentary evidence considerably.  

  

[28]  When deal ing wi th the Pla int i f f ’s  ev idence,  th is  Court  is  in  

agreement  wi th the submission made by the Defendant ’s  Counsel  

dur ing the course of  argument ,  that  “ I t  is  not  necessary to  

undertake a b low-by-blow account  of  and the (s ic)  p la int i f f ’s  

ev idence save to deal  wi th issues per t inent  for  th is  t r ia l . ” .  Indeed,  

having regard to,  in ter  a l ia ,  the amount  and nature of  the 

evidence p laced before th is  Court ,  together  wi th the lack of  

admissions made,  makes a deta i led analys is of  the evidence not  

only impossib le but ,  in th is  par t icu lar  case,  would serve l i t t le or  

no purpose.  At  the end of  the day,  such an approach would only 

resul t  in  burdening th is  judgment  unnecessar i ly.  The only  

a l ternat ive is  to  at tempt to break down the Pla int i f f ’s  ev idence 

into “categor ies”  having regard to,  in ter  a l ia ,  the Pla int i f f ’s  

verbose p leadings,  coupled wi th the less than sat is factory  

presentat ion of  h is  evidence.  

  

 
11 Paragraph [8] ibid 
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The Plaint i f f ’s rel iance on the fact  that  the Defendant only 
entered into the marriage relat ionship for f inancial  gain 
 
[29]  This was averred in the POC. In th is  regard the Pla int i f f  

re l ied on the grounds that  the Defendant  on ly agreed to marry h im 

in that  she sought  to obta in f inancia l  and mater ia l  benef i ts .  

Fur ther  and in th is  regard the Pla int i f f  averred that  the Defendant  

marr ied h im to f inance her  l i festy le,  debts and other  obl igat ions.  

Ar is ing theref rom, the Defendant  averred that  h is  f inancia l  

posi t ion had been drast ica l ly  affected to h is det r iment .  In  addi t ion 

thereto,  he averred that  the Defendant  had informed him that  she 

had never  loved h im and that  she had been coerced in to the 

marr iage by her  fami ly.  

  

[30]  None of  the evidence p laced before th is  Court  at  t r ia l  

supports  such a scenar io .  The Defendant ’s  f inancia l  s tatus pr ior  

to the marr iage (which the p la int i f f  a l leged he later  d iscovered 

was poor)  was never  proven as such.  The Defendant ’s  denia l  

thereof  was never  proven,  on a balance of  probabi l i t ies,  to be 

fa lse.  What  was  t rue (as was readi ly  conceded by the Defendant  

when she test i f ied before th is  Court )  was that  the Pla int i f f  spent  a 

substant ia l  amount  of  money on the Defendant  f rom the t ime when 

the par t ies met  (dur ing or  about  2013) unt i l  they were marr ied 

(dur ing 2017).  Not  only d id the Plaint i f f  shower the Defendant  wi th 

expensive g i f ts  but  he would pay amounts of  money d i rect ly  in to  

the Defendant ’s  bank account .  Al l  of  th is  was common cause.  I t  

was fur ther  common cause that  the Pla int i f f  was never  coerced,  in  

any manner whatsoever,  to  provide the Defendant  therewi th.  In  

the premises,  h is  decis ions to do so (presumably to in f luence the 

defendant  to marry h im) were complete ly  voluntary.  

  

[31]  As to the a l legat ion by the Pla int i f f  that  the Defendant  

in formed him that  she had never  loved h im and had been coerced 

by her  fami ly  in to marry ing h im the Pla int i f f  re l ied on the fo l lowing 
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ev idence.  In the f i rs t  instance,  the Pla int i f f  re l ied on a “d iary”  

ent ry made by the Defendant  as evidence that  the Defendant  

never  loved h im.  The interpretat ion which the Pla int i f f  wishes th is  

Court  to  apply to the aforegoing is  re jected by th is  Court .  Same is  

re jected on the basis that ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the aforesaid entry merely  

supports  the common cause facts in  re lat ion to (as observed by 

th is  Court  ear l ier  in  th is  judgment)  the ser ious d i f f icu l t ies 

exper ienced by the par t ies f rom the very beginning of  the 

marr iage re lat ionship.  In addi t ion thereto,  i t  was common cause 

that  the par t ies were,  at  the t ime,  at tending counsel l ing sessions 

(at  the inst igat ion of  the Defendant) .  Ar is ing theref rom, i t  is  not  

improbable that  (as test i f ied to by the Defendant)  the entry made 

by the Defendant  should be v iewed by th is  Court  in the manner as 

expla ined by the Defendant  and not  that  as re l ied upon by the 

Pla int i f f .  

  

[32]  Secondly,  the Pla int i f f  re l ied upon the manner in which the 

lobola negot iat ions were carr ied out  to support  h is  averments 

that ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the Defendant  only marr ied h im for  f inancia l  

reasons.  He a lso complained ( rather  b i t ter ly)  that  he had paid a  

substant ia l  amount  towards the costs of  the wedding.  Once again ,  

for  the reasons set  out  ear l ier  in  th is  judgment ,  th is  evidence 

takes the Pla int i f f ’s  case in respect  of  for fe i ture,  no fur ther.  Whi ls t  

the lobola negot iat ions are admit ted by the Defendant  on the 

p leadings ( factual ly) ,  there was no evidence p laced before th is  

Court  to  support  the Pla int i f f ’s  averments.  Not  only were the 

d isputes of  fact  ra ised by the Defendant  more probable,  but  i t  is ,  

once again,  imperat ive to note that  the payment  of  the amount  of  

lobola by the Pla int i f f  and contr ibut ions to the wedding ceremony,  

were agreed to by the Pla int i f f .  As to those probabi l i t ies,  i t  is  

more probable that  the Defendant  had l i t t le or  noth ing to do wi th 

the lobola negot iat ions ( these being carr ied out  between the 

fami l ies in  accordance wi th custom).  In addi t ion,  there was no 

evidence to support  the fact  that  the Defendant  hersel f  ins is ted on 
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the Pla int i f f  paying large amounts towards the wedding.  

  

[33]  F inal ly,  no evidence was p laced before th is  Court  to  prove,  

on a balance of  probabi l i t ies ,  that  the aforesaid payments made 

by the Pla int i f f  had a s igni f icant  and detr imental  affect  on h is  

f inancia l  s tatus.  Of  course,  there is  a lso the quest ion as to  

whether  these “grounds”  and the evidence in support  thereof ,  are 

even re levant  to the real  issue in th is  mat ter,  being that  of  a 

for fe i ture of  benef i ts  ar is ing f rom (and not  before)  a  marr iage.  The 

amount  of  t ime (and money)  spent  by the P la int i f f  in  leading th is  

evidence,  supports the submiss ions made by Defendant ’s  Counsel  

that  the Pla int i f f  “….was a wi tness wi th an exaggerated good v iew 

of  h imsel f .  He a lways pr imar i ly  test i f ied about  money as a pr ior i ty  

more than p lacing ef for ts  to work ing on h is marr iage that  has now 

subsequent ly  fa i led. ” .  

 

The Plaint i f f ’s rel iance on the averments that  he was the sole 
provider during the subsistence of  the marriage and that  the 
Defendant made no f inancial  contr ibut ion to the joint  estate  
 
[34]  I t  is  t r i te  that  the act ions of  a par ty to del iberate ly  fa i l  to 

contr ibute towards the costs of  the jo int  estate may,  depending on 

the facts of  a par t icu lar  case,  const i tu te substant ia l  misconduct  

for  the purposes of  a for fe i ture. 12  Fur ther,  i t  is  fa i r ly  t r i te  that  a  

contr ibut ion to a jo int  estate is  not  necessar i ly  in  monetary terms 

but  a lso in respect  of  serv ices rendered,  which resul t  in  that  

estate saving costs. 13 Of  course,  the c lassic  example is  where the 

par t ies agree that ,  even where one spouse is  capable of  work ing 

and earning an income,  that  spouse wi l l  remain unemployed to 

take care of  the household,  inc luding minor  chi ldren born of  the 

marr iage,  thereby saving the estate var ious expenses.  

 
 

12 Z v Z  (supra) at paragraph [7] 
13 Molapo v Molapo (4411/10) [2013] ZAFSHC 29 (14 March 2013).  
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[35]  There was,  once again,  a factual  d ispute per ta in ing to  

whether  the par t ies had entered into an agreement  whereby the 

Defendant ,  despi te being a qual i f ied Homeopath and capable of  

earning an income,  would stay at  home to take care of  the 

household and the two minor  ch i ldren.  The Pla in t i f f ,  dur ing the 

t r ia l ,  test i f ied that ,  in ter  a l ia ,  he paid to the Defendant  a monthly  

amount  of  R2 000.00 to enable her  to employ an assis tant  to 

assist  in  the running of  the household and care of  the minor 

chi ldren.  He fur ther  gave evidence that  he at tempted to assist  the 

Defendant  in  star t ing a business,  even h i r ing a business 

consul tant  to provide assistance therewi th.  

 

[36]  I t  is  imperat ive,  when decid ing where the probabi l i t ies l ie  in 

re lat ion to the reasons as to why the Defendant  was not  gainfu l ly  

employed (on a permanent  basis)  to,  once again,  examine the 

Pla int i f f ’s  p leadings.  In th is  regard,  i t  is  apparent  that  (apar t  f rom 

several  other  consistencies wi th in the POC and between the 

Pla int i f f ’s  ev idence when compared to the POC) that  there is  a 

g lar ing contradict ion between cer ta in averments as set  out  in 

paragraph 4 and subparagraph 8.7 of  the POC. Before deal ing 

therewi th,  i t  is  a lso important  to note that  the Defendant  fa i led to  

take except ion to the POC and/or  request  Fur ther  Par t icu lars f rom 

the Pla int i f f  in  terms of  Rule 21 in order  for  the Defendant  to 

proper ly  p lead to the POC. 

 

[37]  As set  out  in  paragraph 4 of  the POC (d iv ided up into no less 

than e ight  (8)  separate subparagraphs,  not  numbered)  the Pla int i f f  

avers,  in ter  a l ia , 14 that  he was aware that  the Defendant  was 

unemployed pr ior  to the marr iage and accepted that  he had been 

and would l ike ly remain the pr imary  and sole breadwinner  in  the 

marr iage re lat ionship.  He fur ther  avers that  he would have to take 

care of  the educat ion,  socia l ,  ext ra-curr icu lar  and other  needs of  

 
14 Subparagraphs 19.1 and 19.2 ibid 
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the fami ly  ( inc lud ing chi ldren) .  Important ly,  once again in  terms of  

h is  own POC the Pla in t i f f  averred that  “Obl igat ions such as 

medical  a id,  housing,  t ravel ,  fuel ,  food,  c loth ing and 

enter ta inment  would ALL  be borne by the p la int i f f…”.  These 

excerpts  of  the POC can only be construed as an agreement  

between the par t ies (whether  express or  tac i t )  that  the Defendant  

would not  be employed dur ing the marr iage re lat ionship but  would 

render serv ices to the jo int  estate.  

  

[38]  In complete contrast  to the aforegoing the Pla int i f f  then 

avers,  in  subparagraph 8.7 of  the POC, that ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the 

Defendant  d id not  make contr ibut ions to the household expenses 

and/or  necessi t ies and that  the Defendant  d id not  contr ibute 

f inancia l ly  to the household expenses as she refused to seek 

employment  or  star t  a business.  In addi t ion,  the Pla int i f f  p leads,  

in  the same subparagraph of  the POC that  “….the defendant  fa i led 

to contr ibute to the upkeep of  the household and nur tur ing of  the 

chi ldren. ”   

 

[39]  This stark d ist inct ion between the aforegoing averments in  

the POC must  cast  great  doubt  about  the Pla int i f f ’s  bona f ides  in  

at tempt ing to re ly on th is  ground in support  of  a for fe i ture.  At  no 

stage d id the Pla int i f f  at tempt  to expla in th is  mater ia l  

contradict ion in the POC. Fur thermore,  no appl icat ion was made 

to amend the POC to resolve same.  Moreover,  the re l iance by the 

Pla int i f f  on the fact  that  the Defendant  fa i led to make a 

contr ibut ion towards the jo int  estate is  not  supported by the 

evidence p laced before th is  Court  dur ing the t r ia l  or  by the 

probabi l i t ies.  

  

[40]  As set  out  above the Pla int i f f  test i f ied that  he paid an amount  

of  R2 000.00 per  month to the Defendant  to employ a domest ic  

assistant .  I t  is  common cause between the par t ies that  the 

Pla int i f f  paid th is  amount ,  on a monthly basis ,  to  the defendant .  
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Fur thermore,  i t  appears to be common cause that  not  only d id the 

Defendant  e lect  not  to employ any domest ic  help  but  a lso,  when 

th is e lect ion was made the Pla int i f f  was,  at  a l l  mater ia l  t imes,  

aware of  that  decis ion.  This g ives r ise to two (2)  important  

in ferences which th is  Court  is  ent i t led to draw f rom that  ev idence.  

The f i rs t  is  that  the Defendant  d id not  employ any assis tance to  

run the household so,  i t  can be inferred and is  more probable,  

that  the Defendant  ran the household s ingle-handedly and took 

care of  the minor  chi ldren.  I t  may a lso be inferred that  the 

Defendant  decl ined these serv ices wi th the consent  of  the Pla int i f f  

in  that  he cont inued to  make these monthly payments.  At  th is  

stage,  i t  is  a lso important  to note that  the Pla int i f f  d id not  provide 

th is  Court  wi th any evidence that  the household was not  kept  to  

h is sat is fact ion or  that  the minor  chi ldren were not  proper ly  cared 

for.  

 

[41]  The aforegoing a lso g ives credence to the evidence of  the 

Defendant  that ,  in ter  a l ia ,  not  only d id she render those serv ices 

but  she a lso ut i l ised the monthly payments towards the expenses 

incurred by the household ( inc luding,  as set  out  in  the 

Defendant ’s  Counterc la im,  her  personal  expenses) .  Indeed,  i t  was 

c lear  f rom cer ta in bank s tatements tendered in evidence that  the 

Defendant  d id at t ract  cer ta in expendi ture in  that  regard.  This,  in 

turn and a lso having regard to the documentat ion tendered into 

evidence,  supports,  on a balance of  probabi l i t ies,  a scenar io that  

the Defendant  was employed,  on cer ta in occasions,  as a par t - t ime 

locum in  the Homeopathic  profession.  

 

[42]  I t  was not  d isputed by the Defendant  that  the Pla int i f f  made 

cer ta in payments on her  behal f  and to her  personal ly,  in  respect  

of  a possib le business venture.  I t  was however the Defendant ’s  

test imony that  she d id not  have suff ic ient  fa i th in  that  business 

venture.  Also,  her  abi l i ty  to make such a venture a success was 

hampered by her  i l lness dur ing pregnancy and her  desi re to  
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nur ture thei r  ch i ldren.  Th is Court  f inds that  the aforegoing was 

e i ther  common cause or  that  the Pla int i f f  has fa i led to p lace 

before th is  Cour t  any evidence which would lead th is  Court  to  

make a f inding that  the Pla int i f f  has d ischarged the onus 

incumbent  upon h im in respect  thereof .  In addi t ion thereto the fact  

that ,  once again,  the Pla int i f f  made these payments voluntar i ly,  

must  resul t  in  th is  Court  f ind ing that ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the probabi l i t ies  

favour  the Defendant ’s  vers ion.  

 

[43]  From the aforegoing,  i t  is  c lear  that  the Defendant  d id  

contr ibute to the jo int  estate,  both f inancia l ly  ( to a lesser  extent  

than the contr ibut ions by the Pla int i f f )  and the render ing of  

serv ices.  The fact  that  th is  contr ibut ion was ( f inancia l ly)  far  less 

than that  of  the Pla int i f f  and/or cannot  be valued st r ic t ly  in  

monetary terms,  does not  have a bear ing on the issue of  

for fe i ture.   

 

The Plaint i f f ’s rel iance on emotional ,  verbal  and physical  
abuse by the Defendant as a reason for the breakdown of  the 
marriage relat ionship 
 
[44]  Whi ls t  the Pla int i f f  re l ied,  in  the POC, on the fact  that  the 

Defendant  had abused h im both emot ional ly  and verbal ly  dur ing 

the course of  the marr iage re lat ionship the POC were devoid of  

any a l legat ions per ta in ing to physical  abuse.  Despi te the 

aforegoing the Pla int i f f  led evidence (wi thout  object ion thereto on 

behal f  of  the Defendant )  that  the par t ies had an argument  at  

Germiston Lake.  Thereaf ter,  having returned home,  the Pla int i f f  

a l leged that  the Defendant  had “ twisted”  h is arm.  He at tended a 

Netcare Emergency Depar tment  on the 24 t h  of  October  2015.  From 

the medical  repor t  entered into ev idence,  i t  would appear that  the 

extent  of  the “ in jury”  susta ined by the Pla int i f f  was a bru ised lef t  

hand/ forearm.  He was bandaged and g iven medicat ion.  

 



 24  
 

[45]  The ora l  and documentary evidence provided by the P la int i f f  

(and the Defendant)  in  respect  o f  th is  inc ident  supports,  at  best  

for  the Pla int i f f ,  an unfor tunate scuff le  between the par t ies.  I t  

does not  support  an assaul t  by the Defendant  upon the Pla int i f f  o f  

any s ign i f icance,  i f  a t  a l l .  Even i f  i t  d id,  the Pla int i f f  only p laced 

evidence before th is  Court  in  respect  of  a s ingle  inc ident .  This  

can never  qual i fy  as a ground of  substant ia l  misconduct  g iv ing 

r ise to a for fe i ture on the par t  of  the Defendant .  

 

[46]  Wi th regard to the a l legat ions of  emot ional  and verbal  abuse 

(which were p leaded by the Pla int i f f )  i t  appears to  th is  Court  that  

same are based pr imar i ly,  i f  not  sole ly,  upon the common cause 

facts in  th is  mat ter  that ,  f rom the very f i rs t  n ight  o f  the marr iage 

re lat ionship,  mar i ta l  d i f f icu l t ies were exper ienced between the 

par t ies.  In  addi t ion thereto,  the Pla int i f f  gave extensive ev idence 

that  the Defendant ’s  fami ly  a lso t reated h im wi th d isdain.  

 

[47]  Apart  f rom the fact  that  the Defendant  a lso re l ies on these 

grounds as a reason for  the breakdown of  the marr iage 

re lat ionship the real  d i f f icu l ty  is  that  the Pla int i f f  is  a s ingle  

wi tness who fa i led to lead any other  ev idence in suppor t  of  the 

aforegoing.  In the premises,  th is  evidence must  be t reated wi th 

caut ion.  Added thereto,  is the fact  that ,  once again,  i t  is  common 

cause that  d i f f icu l t ies arose between the par t ies f rom the very 

beginning of  the marr iage re lat ionship.  Ar is ing theref rom, th is  

Court  cannot  f ind that  any emot ional  or  verbal  abuse by the 

Defendant  is  present  which would support  substant ia l  misconduct  

on the Defendant ’s  behal f ,  suff ic ient  for  th is  Court  to  grant  a  

for fe i ture.  

 

The Plaint i f f ’s rel iance on the denial  of  conjugal  r ights by the 
Defendant and the Defendant having an extramari tal  
relat ionship,  as reasons for the breakdown of  the marriage 
relat ionship 
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[48]  The very fact  that  two (2)  minor  ch i ldren were born of  the 

marr iage,  would,  pr ima facia ,  contradict  th is  a l legat ion made by 

the Pla int i f f .  In addi t ion thereto,  is  the st r ik ing fa i lure to lead any 

corroborat ing evidence in respect  thereof .  

  

[49]  Fur ther,  i f  th is  Court  understood the Pla int i f f ’s  ev idence 

correct ly  ( th is  evidence being d i f f icu l t  to  understand,  as deal t  wi th  

ear l ier  in  th is  judgment)  the Pla int i f f  e lected to bui ld  an addi t ional  

room (or  rooms) at  the matr imonia l  home where he took up 

residence.  Any a l leged ext ramar i ta l  affa i r  by the Defendant  took 

p lace af ter  he d id so.  In the premises,  on the evidence before th is  

Court ,  i t  is  not  possib le to f ind,  on a balance of  probabi l i t ies ,  that  

the Defendant  e i ther  denied the Pla int i f f  h is  conjugal  r ights or  

entered into an ext ramar i ta l  re lat ionship.  I f  she d id enter  in to 

such a re lat ionship and/or  denied the Pla int i f f  h is  conjugal  r ights,  

i t  would appear that  any love or  affect ion between the par t ies had 

a l ready ended.  

 

[50]  Even i f  th is  Court  has misconstrued the said evidence,  i t  

must  not ,  once again,  be forgot ten that  i t  is  common cause 

between the par t ies that  ser ious problems existed between them 

f rom the very beginning of  thei r  marr iage.  In the premises,  l i t t le 

re l iance ( i f  any)  can be p laced on the aforegoing factors as 

reasons for  the breakdown of  the marr iage re lat ionship.  Last ly,  

adul tery  a lone,  even i f  proven,  is  not  necessar i ly  a val id  reason 

for  for fe i ture.  Each case must  be decided on the re levant  facts 

per ta in ing thereto.  This is ,  once again,  t r i te  law.  Final ly,  i t  must  

be noted that  the Pla in t i f f ’s  Counsel  d id not  re ly  on th is  factor  

dur ing the course of  argument .  

  

Other factors rel ied upon by the Plaint i f f  in support  of  his 
claim for forfei ture 
 



 26  
 

[51]  The Pla int i f f  a lso gave extensive evidence in respect  of  

payments made by h im in re lat ion to the Defendant ’s  motor  

vehic le ( largely resul t ing f rom serv ices carr ied out  in  respect  

thereof ) .  As submit ted on behal f  of  the Defendant  i t  was c lear  

f rom the evidence that  wi th in a per iod of  three years the p la int i f f  

spent  no more than R10 000.00 on the Defendant ’s  motor  vehic le.  

I t  was a lso fur ther  correct ly  submit ted that  the Pla int i f f  was a lso 

responsib le for  any damage,  together  wi th wear and tear,  in  

re lat ion to the Defendant ’s  motor  vehic le s ince,  in ter  a l ia ,  he was 

using that  motor vehic le  to t ravel  to Secunda on a dai ly  basis .  

This evidence was not  ser iously d isputed by the Pla int i f f .  

  

[52]  In respect  of  the issue of  the Defendant ’s  debt ,  i t  was a lso 

submit ted,  on behal f  of  the Defendant ,  that  the only evidence 

provided by the Pla int i f f  in  respect  thereof  was a payment  of  

approximately R6 000.00 by the Pla int i f f  on behal f  of  the 

Defendant  to Afr ican Bank.  Fur ther,  the Defendant ’s  credi t  record 

shows that  the Defendant  d id not  have any major  debts as the 

Pla int i f f  sought  to suggest .  

  

[53]  Wi th regard to the Pla int i f f ’s  own indebtedness a l legedly  

incurred the Pla int i f f  gave test imony before th is  Court  that  when 

the Defendant  vacated the former matr imonia l  home in December  

2018 the jo int  estate was indebted to an amount  of  approximately  

R500 000.00.  However,  as correct ly  pointed out  by Defendant ’s  

Counsel ,  no proof  of  such quant i f icat ion was p laced before th is 

Court .  I t  is  important  to note that  the Pla int i f f  fa i led to p lace any 

real  ev idence before th is  Court  as to what  t ranspi red to the sum 

of  R1.2 mi l l ion received by the Pla int i f f  in respect  of  h is  pension 

benef i t  (accru ing to h im once he lef t  h is  previous employment) .  In  

th is  regard,  the Pla int i f f  merely stated that  he had spent  a 

considerable amount  on the chi ldren and the payment  of  debts.  In  

re lat ion thereto,  i t  is  a lso important  to take cognisance of  the fact  

that  i t  t ranspi red that  the Pla int i f f  had g iven approx imately 
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R700 000.00 to h is f r iend (Sizwe Mghobozi ) .  Apar t  f rom the fact  

that  th is  would appear,  pr ima fac ie ,  to be to the pre jud ice of  both 

the jo int  estate and the Defendant ,  i t  makes l i t t le  or  no sense to do 

so i f  the matr imonia l  estate had genuinely incurred an indebtedness 

of  approx imate ly R500 000.00.  The Pla int i f f  a lso made the broad 

averment  (unsupported by any documentary ev idence)  that  he had 

ut i l ised monies f rom his pension towards payment  of  h is  at torneys 

ar is ing f rom the l i t igat ion between the par t ies.  Even i f  t rue,  th is  is  

c lear ly  a d i lut ion of  the jo int  estate to  the pre jud ice of  the 

Defendant .  F ina l ly,  i t  is  a lso important  to note (as pointed out  on 

behal f  of  the Defendant)  that  in 2022 the Pla int i f f  generated a tota l  

income in  excess of  R2.4 mi l l ion.  The aforegoing c lear ly  supports 

the Defendant ’s  ev idence that  she was “kept  in the dark”  as to the 

t rue f inanc ia l  s tatus of  the jo in t  estate.  Added to the aforegoing is  

the common cause fact  that  (ext racted f rom the Pla int i f f  under 

cross-examinat ion)  the Pla int i f f ,  on numerous occasions,  drew large 

sums of  cash (v ia an ATM).  On the Pla int i f f ’s  ev idence,  he d id so to  

“pray over”  that  money.  This  explanat ion as to the indebtedness of  

the jo int  estate is ,  in  the opin ion of  th is  Court ,  less than 

sat is factory.   

 

[54]  The Pla int i f f  spent  a considerable amount  of  t ime before th is 

Court  g iv ing test imony in respect  o f  the a l leged act ions of  the 

Defendant  in denying h im contact  to  the minor  ch i ldren.  This  was 

d isputed by the Defendant .  Fur ther,  th is  Court  is  under the 

impress ion that  any d isputes between the par t ies in  respect  of  the 

Pla int i f f ’s  r ights of  contact  wi th  the minor  ch i ldren present ly  form 

par t  o f  separate legal  proceedings,  e i ther  a l ready commenced or  

pending.  This is  c lear  f rom the fact  that  th is  Court  was not  

requested to deal  wi th th is  issue dur ing the t r ia l . 15 

 

[55]  Once again,  the Pla int i f f  purpor ts to re ly  on an “ issue”  which 

 
15 Paragraph [7] ibid  
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was never  p leaded.  Despi te making other  amendments to the POC 

the Pla int i f f  never  made any appl icat ion dur ing the course of  the 

t r ia l  to  inc lude same.  In addi t ion,  th is  Court  repeatedly asked the 

Pla int i f f ’s  Counsel  to expla in on what  basis a pending d ispute 

such as that  re lat ing to contact  wi th the minor  ch i ldren could be 

re l ied upon in a  d ivorce act ion deal ing sole ly wi th for fe i ture.  No 

sat is factory explanat ion was provided to  th is  Court  dur ing the 

t r ia l .  L ikewise,  no sat is factory explanat ion has been prov ided at  

the conclusion thereof .  

 

[56]  In th is  regard,  th is  Court  understood the Pla int i f f  to re ly  on,  

in ter  a l ia ,  the mat ters of  Wijker  and Z v Z ,  read wi th the 

provis ions of  subsect ion 9(1)  of  the Act .  I t  is  t r i te that ,  in respect  

of  substant ia l  misconduct ,  subsect ion 9(1)  provides for  “any”  

substant ia l  misconduct  on the par t  of  e i ther  of  the par t ies.  In  

Wijker,  i t  is  c lear  that  a Court ,  when deal ing wi th whether  a par ty  

would be unduly  benef i t ted in re lat ion to the other  i f  a  for fe i ture 

order  is  not  made,  the t r ia l  cour t  must  make a value judgment  

af ter  having considered the facts fa l l ing wi th in the compass of  the 

three factors ment ioned in the sect ion.  Fur ther,  in Wijker,  i t  was 

held that  “Substant ia l  misconduct  may inc lude conduct  which has 

noth ing to do wi th the breakdown of  a marr iage and may for  that  

and other  reasons have been inc luded as a separate factor. ”  In 

addi t ion to the aforegoing,  P la int i f f ’s  Counsel  re l ied on the matter  

of  Z v Z to  support  the wording of  the subsect ion (deal t  wi th 

above)  and submit ted that  th is would inc lude the Defendant  

denying the Pla int i f f  contact  wi th  the minor  chi ldren.  

 

[57]  This Court  is  of  the opin ion that  the a l leged fa i lure of  the 

Defendant  to a l low the P la int i f f  contact  wi th the minor  chi ldren,  is 

not ,  in th is  par t icu lar  mat ter,  a factor  which can (or  should) ,  be 

taken in  to account  when decid ing the issue of  for fe i ture.  This is  

based on,  in ter  a l ia ,  the fo l lowing,  namely:  
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57.1 the issue as encapsulated above was never  p leaded by 

the Pla int i f f ;  

 

57.2 th is  aside the Court  was never  requested to make a 

decis ion in respect  thereof ;  

  

57.3 the issue is  to be decided upon by another  cour t  ( i f  not  

set t led between the par t ies) ;  

  

57.4 even i f  proven that  the Defendant  has denied the 

Pla int i f f  contact  wi th the minor  chi ldren,  th is  could only  

have occurred af ter  the Defendant  vacated the matr imonia l  

home wi th the minor  chi ldren;   

 

57.5 in  the premises,  such conduct  ( i f  proven)  was not  a  

factor  which gave r ise to the breakdown of  the marr iage 

re lat ionship;  

  

57.6 whi ls t  i t  may be argued that  the aforesaid conduct  may 

be considered on the basis that  i t  should be inc luded as a 

“separate factor”  the wording of  the subsect ion,  upon a 

proper  in terpretat ion thereof ,  should not  be construed too 

widely.  This is  par t icu lar ly  so in  the present  mat ter  where 

the issue was not  proper ly  before th is  Court  and  appears to  

be sub judicae .  

  

[58]  Even i f  th is  Court  is  incorrect  in  respect  of  the aforegoing the 

Pla int i f f  has fa i led to prove,  on a balance of  probabi l i t ies ,  that  the 

Defendant  has indeed denied the P la int i f f  contact  to the minor  

chi ldren and/or  the denia l  thereof  has not  been in the best  

in terests  of  the minor  ch i ldren.  Apart  f rom the fact  that  th is  issue 

warrants  a separate t r ia l  the Plaint i f f  has,  once again,  fa i led to 

lead any mater ia l  and corroborat ing ev idence to support  h is 

averments in  respect  thereof .  Correspondence a lone,  p laced 
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before th is  Court  as a number of  exhib i ts ,  is  insuff ic ient ,  on the 

facts of  th is  par t icu lar  mat ter,  to  support  the Pla int i f f ’s  v iva voce  

ev idence.  

  

The durat ion of  the marr iage 
 
[59]  Both par t ies made var ious submissions per ta in ing to how th is  

Court  should determine the durat ion of  the marr iage between the 

par t ies.  Var ious author i t ies were c i ted in respect  thereof .  This  

judgment  wi l l  not  be burdened fur ther  wi th a deta i led analys is of  

ear l ier  decis ions deal ing therewi th.  This is  unnecessary having 

regard to the fact  that  whichever  method is  used does not  resul t  

in  a large d iscrepancy.   

 

[60]  I t  is  common cause that  the par t ies were marr ied to one 

another  on 17 Apr i l  2015 and separated dur ing December 2018.  

On th is  calcula t ion the marr iage lasted three years and e ight  

months.  The Combined Summons was issued on the 17 August  

2019 and served upon the Defendant  the very same day.  On th is 

second method of  calcu lat ion the marr iage lasted exact ly  four  

years.  For  the purposes of  th is  judgment ,  i t  wi l l  be accepted that  

the durat ion of  the marr iage re lat ionship was four  years.  

  

[61]  The par t ies a lso provided th is  Cour t  wi th some author i t ies 

that  deal t  wi th for fe i ture orders made by our  cour ts in  re lat ion to  

the durat ion of  the marr iage re lat ionship.  Whi ls t  these author i t ies 

are usefu l ,  th is  Court  is  of  the opin ion that ,  once again,  th is 

mat ter  should be decided on the facts thereof  and the d iscret ion 

vested in th is  Court  when decid ing for fe i ture should not  be 

rest r ic ted by any previous decis ions in re lat ion to the durat ion of  

the marr iage.  

  

The evidence of  the Defendant  
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[62]  This evidence has,  to a large extent ,  been deal t  wi th by th is  

Court  when,  in ter  a l ia ,  consider ing the evidence of  the Pla int i f f .  

For  that  reason and,  in  l ight  of  the fact  that  the Defendant ’s  

evidence consisted of  rebut ta ls  to that  g iven by the Pla in t i f f ,  th is  

Court  shal l  not  deal  therewi th in  great  deta i l .  

  

[63]  At  the beginning of  her  evidence (a lso g iven wi thout  the a id  

of  an interpreter  despi te Engl ish not  being her  f i rs t  language)  the 

Defendant  appeared to be a good wi tness,  provid ing concise and 

c lear  test imony before th is  Court .  There were no mater ia l  

contradict ions in  her  evidence and she appeared to be honest  in  

a l l  mater ia l  respects.  Whi ls t  she d id become somewhat  

argumentat ive when cross-examined the Defendant ,  overal l ,  made 

a good impression upon th is Cour t .  

  

[64]  Dur ing the course of  the aforesaid test imony provided by the 

Defendant ,  she made an important  concession.  This was that  she 

accepted she should not  benef i t  f rom the Edgecombe Park 

proper ty;  the Glenwood property and the Witbank proper ty.  This  

concession was made vo luntar i ly  by the Defendant  whi ls t  she was 

test i fy ing and no at tempt was made,  by her  Counsel ,  to  “ resurrect ”  

the Defendant ’s  defence to a for fe i ture order  in  re lat ion to the 

aforesaid proper t ies.  

 
Discussion and conclusions 
 
[65]  In l ight  of  the aforegoing concessions made by the 

Defendant ,  i t  is  only necessary for  th is Court  to  decide whether  

the Defendant  should for fe i t  the fo l lowing benef i ts  of  the 

marr iage,  namely:  

 

65.1 her  hal f -share in the Pla int i f f ’s  pension interest  in  the 

Chemica l  Industr ies Nat ional  Provident  Fund;  
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65.2 the Dalpark proper ty;  and 

 

65.3 the motor  vehic le.  

  

[66]  I t  was submit ted,  on behal f  of  the Pla int i f f ,  that  th is  Cour t  

should make an order  that  the Defendant  whol ly  for fe i t  the 

benef i ts  of  the marr iage,  as set  out  above.  On behal f  of  the 

Defendant ,  i t  was submit ted that  no such order  should be made,  

al ternat ive ly ,  a t  worst  for  the Defendant ,  she be asked to  for fe i t  

only ten percent  thereof .  

  

Is there a benefi t? 
 
[67]  I t  is  t r i te  that  before a Court  can order  a for fe i ture of  

benef i ts ,  i t  must  be proven that  there is  indeed a benef i t  to  be 

for fe i ted.  In th is  regard the Pla int i f f  has shown that  i f  there was to  

be a d iv is ion of  the jo int  estate the Defendant  would benef i t  as 

fo l lows:  

 

67.1 by R25 000.00 in respect  of  the Pla int i f f ’s  pension 

interest ;  

 

67.2 by R296 050.00 in respect  of  the Dalpark proper ty;  and 

 

67.3 by R85 000.00 in respect  of  the motor  vehic le.  

 

[68]  In the premises,  the tota l  amount  by which the Defendant  

would benef i t  is  the sum of  R406 050.00.  Accordingly,  i t  is  

accepted that  there is  a benef i t  for  the Defendant  to for fe i t ,  which 

is  the f i rs t  s tep to enable th is  Court  to  order  a for fe i ture.  

  
The durat ion of  the marr iage 
 
[69]  Whi ls t ,  a t  f i rs t  g lance,  a per iod of  four  years may appear to  
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be a marr iage of  fa i r ly  shor t  durat ion,  i t  does not ,  in  the opin ion of  

th is  Court ,  d isqual i fy  the Defendant  f rom benef i t t ing f rom the 

assets as set  out  herein.   

 

[70]  This is  because,  in ter  a l ia ,  despi te the fact  that  for  the 

Pla int i f f  to  succeed wi th h is c la im for  for fe i ture he need only re ly  

on one of  the factors as set  out  in  subsect ion 9(1)  of  the Act ,  i t  is  

not  proper  (or  even possib le in  th is  Court ’s  opin ion)  to consider  

each of  these factors sole ly in  iso lat ion.  In the premises,  having 

regard to a l l  of  the evidence in th is  mat ter  the fact  that  the 

marr iage was entered into wi th the best  in tent ions of  the par t ies;  

t ragical ly  was a d isaster  f rom the beginning and that  both par t ies 

(on e i ther  vers ion)  contr ibuted ( in  d i fferent  means)  to the 

maintenance of  the jo int  estate,  does not  mean that  the re lat ive ly  

shor t  durat ion of  the marr iage should,  v iewed in iso lat ion,  resul t  

in  the Defendant  for fe i t ing the benef i ts  thereof .  

  
The reasons for the breakdown of  the marriage and any 
substantial  misconduct  on the part  of  ei ther of  the part ies 
 
[71]  As should be c lear  f rom that  set  out  in  th is  judgment  i t  is  not  

possib le  (and even necessary)  for  th is  Court  to  make a f inding as 

to the reasons for  the breakdown of  the marr iage re lat ionship.  

This Is  s imply because that  re lat ionship was broken f rom the 

beginning.  In addi t ion thereto,  no independent  evidence was 

p laced before th is  Court  to  corroborate the vers ions of  the par t ies  

(despi te  the fact  that  before the t r ia l  both par t ies indicated they 

would be cal l ing other  wi tnesses) .  Hence,  i t  was not  poss ib le to  

decide,  on a balance of  probabi l i t ies,  what  the real  reasons for  

the breakdown of  the marr iage were.  

  

[72]  The same appl ies equal ly  to the issue of  any substant ia l  

misconduct .  More par t icu lar ly,  as deal t  wi th above,  there is  no 

evidence to hold that ,  once again on a balance of  probabi l i t ies ,  
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the Defendant  is  gui l ty  of  any substant ia l  misconduct .  Even 

accept ing,  for  the purposes of  argument ,  that  the Defendant  is  

gui l ty  of  misconduct ,  i t  can never  be said that  same is  substant ia l  

for  the purposes of  order ing a for fe i ture.   

  

[73]  Ar is ing theref rom and having regard to a l l  of  the aforegoing,  

th is  Court  f inds that  the Pla int i f f  has fa i led to d ischarge the onus 

of  proof  incumbent  upon h im to persuade th is  Court ,  in  the 

exerc ise of  i ts  d iscret ion,  to grant  the re l ief  sought .  

  

Costs 
 
[74]  The record wi l l  show that ,  on numerous occasions,  th is  Court  

(as i t  is  ent i t led,  even obl iged,  to do)  a t tempted to get  the par t ies 

to reach a sensib le solut ion to end th is  l i t igat ion having regard,  

in ter  a l ia ,  to  the costs thereof  and the re lat ive ly smal l  amount  

involved in the actual  benef i t  to the Defendant  in  respect  of  the 

jo int  estate.  Not  only are these amounts re lat ive ly smal l  (as set  

out  above)  compared to the costs incurred by the par t ies in  

re lat ion to the costs of  th is  act ion but  the order  of  th is  Court  wi l l  

not ,  pr ima fac ie ,  necessar i ly  resolve a l l  of  the issues between the 

par t ies.  In  par t icu lar,  s ince the Counterc la im of  the Defendant 

conta ins only  a prayer  for  the equal  d iv is ion of  the jo in t  estate (a  

mat ter  of  law)  wi thout  the appointment  of  a  l iqu idator  to d iv ide the 

estate the l ike l ihood of  future l i t igat ion between the par t ies in  

respect  o f  the patr imonia l  aspects of  the present  l i t igat ion is 

immense.  This must  be as a resul t  of ,  in ter  a l ia ,  the d iss ipat ion of  

the major  asset  of  the jo int  estate by the Pla int i f f ,  be ing the 

Pla int i f f ’s  pension interest .  Regret tab ly,  a l l  a t tempts by th is  Court  to  

not  on ly  convince the par t ies to  br ing an end to th is  l i t igat ion but  

a lso to l imi t  the issues to  be deal t  wi th at  t r ia l ,  fe l l  on deaf  ears.  

  

[75]  Fur ther  and in  th is  regard the fo l lowing facts,  insofar  as they 

re late to a costs order,  must  be noted,  namely:  
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75.1 the fa i lure of  the par t ies to make any real  admiss ions in  

the two (2)  pre- t r ia l  conferences held before the t r ia l  in  th is  

mat ter  commenced which would have had the effect  o f  

proper ly  def in ing the issues,  thereby shor tening the durat ion 

of  the t r ia l ;  

 

75.2 as a resul t  o f  the aforegoing,  th is  Court  d i rected that  the 

par t ies hold a fur ther  Rule 37 Conference on the f i rs t  day of  

t r ia l .  Regret tab ly,  the par t ies made no progress in  respect  

thereof .  A l l  admiss ions sought  by the respect ive par t ies were 

not  made;  

  

75.3 the s tate of  both of  the par t ies ’ p leadings;  the fa i lure of  

both par t ies to proper ly  react  thereto and the considerable 

t ime taken to complete the Pla int i f f ’s  ev idence,  have a l l  been 

deal t  wi th  above;  

  

75.4 the concess ion made by the Defendant  in respect  of  the 

fact  that  she should for fe i t  three (3)  of  the immovable 

proper t ies was only  made by her  at  a  la te s tage of  her  

ev idence;  

  

[76]  The d iv is ion of  the jo in t  estate fo l lowing a decree of  d ivorce is  

a  mat ter  o f  law and wi l l  therefore not  be inc luded in the order  of  th is  

Court .  

  

[77]  I t  is  a lso imperat ive to  note that  at  the pre- t r ia l  conferences 

held between the par t ies,  i t  was agreed that  each par ty would pay 

the ir  own costs up to the commencement  of  the t r ia l .  A lso,  the 

tender made by the Pla int i f f  at  a la te stage dur ing the t r ia l ,  in  an 

amount  of  R100 000.00,  cannot  ass ist  the Pla int i f f  in  hav ing the 

Defendant  at t ract  an order  for  costs.  Not  on ly  was th is  tender  very 

la te but  i t  d id not  exceed the benef i t  to  which the Defendant  is  
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ent i t led,  even on the Pla int i f f ’s  own case (and put t ing as ide that  the 

u l t imate benef i t  may be greater) .  

  

[78]  I t  is  t r i te  that  an order  for  costs would normal ly  fo l low the resul t  

o f  the l i t igat ion unless unusual  c i rcumstances exist .  No such 

c i rcumstances have been brought  to the at tent ion of  th is  Court .  

However,  i t  is  a lso t r i te  that  a cour t  has a genera l  d iscret ion ( to  

be exerc ised judic ia l ly)  when arr iv ing at  a sui table costs order.  

Having regard to the aforegoing,  th is  Cour t ,  in  the exerc ise of  i ts 

d iscret ion,  holds that  each par ty should pay thei r  own costs .  This  

order  is  a lso just  and equi table in  l ight  of  both par t ies being 

par t ia l ly  successfu l .  

  

Order 
 
[79]  This  Court  makes the fo l lowing order :  

 

1. A decree of divorce. 

  

2. The Defendant is to wholly forfeit the following benefits to the 

marriage in community of property between the parties, as more clearly 

described in the judgment of this Court, read with the pleadings exchanged 

between the parties, namely: 

  

1. the E[…] P[…] property; 

  

2. the G[…] property; and 

  

3. the W[…] property. 

  

3. In terms of subsection 7(7)(a) of the Divorce Act 70 of 1979 the 

Defendant is entitled to receive one-half of the Plaintiff’s pension interest in 

the Chemical Industries National Provident Fund. 
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4. Each party shall pay their own costs. 
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